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For my mother, who could really jive.






We must always remember to thank the CIA and the Army for LSD. That’s what people forget. […] They invented LSD to control people and what they did was give us freedom. Sometimes it works in mysterious ways its wonders to perform. If you look in the Government reports on acid, the ones who jumped out the window or killed themselves because of it [did so] years later. So, let’s face it, [they] weren’t really on acid when [they] jumped out the window.


John Lennon, 1980


But I’m not here just to make records and money. I’m here to say something and to touch other people, sometimes in a cry of desperation: ‘Do you know this feeling?’


Keith Richards, Life








1: DON’T SAY A WORD



Larry Speed stepped off the plane at Palma airport, mid-afternoon on Saturday, March the eighteenth, 1967.


Emerging from the aircraft, he squinted, donned a pair of sunglasses and removed his leather jacket. When he’d left Tempelhof a few hours before, Berlin had been shrouded in fog, and the temperature barely 5°C.


The day after the recording, he’d told the other three members of Pearl Harbor about his plan to take a few days’ holiday. With three grand in Deutschmarks and fifteen months’ work weighing heavy on his system, he reckoned it was more than well deserved. Besides, living at such close quarters had brought the inevitable tensions and shoot-outs. Some distance would be good for them all.


The others agreed.


That same afternoon, he called into a travel agency on the Kurfürstendamm. The manageress suggested Majorca, Greece or Istanbul. Speed rasped his reply, with a knowing wink.


‘Whichever has the, uh, friendliest natives, if you take my meaning…’


The Balearic Islands, the lady informed him, smoothly. There were some seats left on the Saturday flight.


When Saturday came, Speed piled a few things into a bag, placed his Fender in its case and called a taxi for the airport. He had made sure to take his portable Teppaz record-player and a few LPs, including Fresh Cream. The super-trio’s album had been the soundtrack to his room for the past three months.


Larry Speed, real name Larry Finch, was the leader of Pearl Harbor, the rock group he had formed three years earlier in London, while living south of the river in Battersea. He was an only son, born out of wedlock, and never knew his father – an incorrigible womaniser who disappeared overnight shortly after Larry was born. Larry had spent his childhood and most of his teenage years in a second-floor flat in a modest house on the Queenstown Road, worshipped and protected by his omnipresent mother. For almost twenty years, the four huge chimneys of Battersea Power Station, on the banks of the Thames, had marked the horizon of his world.


In rock’n’roll lore, bass players were pugnacious types, quick to lash out when crossed. But Larry was slight and delicate, with gaunt features, a pill-pale complexion and little taste for a fight. Encouraged by his mother, he had taken music lessons, learning piano from the age of eight. Four years later, he progressed to jazz guitar, and the bass soon after, like his hero and role model Charlie Mingus.


Larry retained the discipline and precision of his classical music training, earnestly maintaining that the finest bass lines were composed two hundred years ago by Johann Sebastian Bach and never bettered, except by Jack Bruce. Quiet and introvert, Larry disliked company – and people in general – but hid his awkwardness behind a false smile and a killing line in sarcasm. Things were different on stage: there, he transformed into a flamboyant, frenzied bundle of energy.


Shortly after four o’clock, Speed reached the Punta Negra, a brand-new hotel atop a small headland on the Costa d’en Blanes, about twelve miles from Palma de Mallorca. He checked into his room, opened his bag and spread its contents over the floor. Half an hour later, he appeared at the hotel pool, where his tired complexion, long, black hair and fringed shirt, open to his bony chest, contrasted starkly with the tanned, well-fed bodies of the holiday-makers relaxing on their sun loungers. The eye-opening motifs on his heavily tattooed arms completed the effect.


The hotel residents exchanged quiet words, casting suspicious, sidelong glances. Unfazed, Larry leaned an elbow on the bar and ordered a beer, drinking it down in one. Astonished by the cheap price, he decided to rev things up with a gin and Coke. By 6:00p.m., with the sun low on the horizon, he had swallowed enough drink and plied the barman with enough tips to enquire about the possibility of spicier entertainment. The bartender told him that in the fifteenth century, the ladies of Mallorca attracted mariners from twenty thousand leagues around. The tradition of hospitality was undimmed today, he added. Two establishments, the Mustang and the Bora-Bora, were singled out for particular praise.


Back in his room, Larry ordered half a roast chicken with chips and peas, and an ice-cold bottle of rosé. Residents to either side later attested that he had eaten his meal with the television on, imitating the Spanish commentator at the top of his voice. After that, he had listened to a few LPs, apparently leaping around to the music. At 11:00p.m. a taxi took him from the hotel to the Mustang Ranch in Bajos, in central Palma.


At the night club, Speed flirted with a number of girls before settling on a woman with jet-black hair, older and more curvaceous than the others. He bought her a glass of champagne, and the two danced a little. Discussions ensued, and at around 2:30a.m. Speed ordered a taxi, dived into the back seat and set off in the direction of Punta Negra. The night porter saw the pair enter the hotel at around 3:00a.m. He reported later that both appeared to be in a state of advanced inebriation.


Around 5:00a.m., the woman appeared at reception and asked the porter to call her a taxi. She was swaying slightly, but did not seem distressed or anxious. Questioned later, she confirmed that Larry had been fast asleep when she left.


The hotel groundsman began work at 6:30a.m. as he did every Sunday morning. At around 7:45a.m. he was about to clean the pool when he saw the body of a man on the bottom. He called for help immediately. Two kitchen staff and a waiter came to the rescue. The men heaved Larry Finch from the water, but saw straightaway that he was dead.


The medical examiner diagnosed traumatic asphyxial death with pulmonary edema. The time of drowning was estimated at around 6:00a.m. Marta Rego, the woman from the night club, noted in her statement that Larry had drunk a great deal, and had shut himself in the bathroom for a few minutes. Despite some torrid language during their love-making, she had found him quite amable. To her surprise, he had demonstrated normal, even disquieting sexual prowess. In addition to over three grams of alcohol per 100 millilitres of blood, the test reports noted the presence of codeine, Diazepam, morphine and lysergic acid, a synthetic hallucinogen better known by the acronym LSD.


The police concluded that Larry Finch had come down from his room to swim, and drowned from the shock of the cold water.


When Larry’s mother was informed of his death by telephone a few hours later, she ran a warm bath, got into it with a photograph of her son, and cut her wrists. As her life ebbed away, she murmured the words of the lullaby she had sung when he was a little boy.


‘Hush little baby, don’t say a word…’





2: IN THE MIST



Will God forgive me for what I have done?


He knows the truth. He knows I never wanted it that way. What happened was just fate. An unfortunate series of events.


God will believe my story, the story no one would, the story whose pages have disappeared, the story I turn over and over in my head, so the details won’t vanish in the mist.





3: X MIDI



The call came through to the emergency room at 6.12p.m. A woman reported that a pedestrian had been hit by a car on Avenue Fonsny, near the entrance to Brussels Midi station.


The call handler asked the usual questions, assessing the urgency of the situation.


‘Are there any others wounded?’


‘No.’


‘Is he conscious?’


‘I don’t think so.’


‘Is he moving? Any movement in the legs or arms?’


‘Not that I can see.’


A call went out straightaway. An ambulance was despatched to the scene. Saint-Pierre Hospital was contacted to send an Emergency Medical Team.


Information about the incident was relayed to police headquarters. A patrol set off for Midi station, siren wailing. The car weaved through the traffic, drove up onto the concourse and came to a halt close to the station entrance.


The officers cut the siren but left the roof light spinning. They emerged from the car, adjusted their uniforms and walked unhurriedly towards a cluster of people. About twenty onlookers stood in a semi-circle around a taxi. The vehicle was blocking the access route to the station, provoking a chorus of horns. A man broke away from the group and hurried towards the two policemen, visibly shocked.


‘I don’t know what came over him, he crossed all of a sudden, just threw himself under the cab. I braked the second I saw him, but it was too late.’


One officer moved everyone back, while his colleague ventured into the traffic, trying get the jam moving.


Crowds of passengers poured out of the station at regular intervals, dispersing along the street. Some joined the onlookers, others hurried past, indifferent to the drama unfolding before their eyes, eager for home, or a chance to unwind in one of the nearby cafés. A handful of students observed the scene with a detached air, plugged into their smartphones, each in a private musical bubble.


The ambulance arrived seconds later, followed by the emergency team’s fluorescent yellow 4x4.


A doctor hurried to kneel beside the man lying half under the taxi. He bent over, gauged the victim’s breathing, checked his eyes, spoke a few words in his ear, waited for a reaction. He examined the arms and legs, lifted a wrist. His assistant joined him.


‘So?’


‘Pulse is weak, but his GCS is a 4.’


‘What do we do?’


‘Work on him in the van. Too many people here and it’s almost dark. About to pour with rain, too.’


The nurse looked up at the sky. Fat drops of rain splattered his face.


‘Okay, I’ll get the scoop.’


Carefully, the doctor raised the man’s head and positioned a neck brace. He discovered a gash along the top of the scalp.


His colleague returned, armed with a metal stretcher.


The doctor took the man’s arms and crossed them over his stomach. Next, he slid one hand under his shoulders and the other under his buttocks, lifted slightly and pulled the man towards him. The nurse slipped the stretcher under the body. He puffed his cheeks and breathed out heavily.


‘Jeez! He hasn’t seen a shower in a while! Second street sleeper I’ve dealt with this week.’


The victim wore an overgrown beard and long, filthy hair matted with water and blood. He was dressed in a thick, shapeless coat pocked with holes.


The crowd of onlookers had swelled. Witnesses to the accident were giving their versions of events to the new-comers. Rain was falling steadily now. A few umbrellas had popped open. A gang of skinheads in jeans and leather jackets elbowed their way to the front. One overstepped the police cordon, inspected the scene and eyed the police officer.


‘Fucking hobos. Stupid bastard deserves to snuff it.’


The officer eyed him back, but gave no reaction. The standoff lasted a moment or two. The ringleader rolled a mouthful of spit, expelled it and headed back the way he had come, shadowed by his clique.


The emergency team carried the victim to the ambulance. With the stretcher safely inside, the police officer approached the doctor.


‘Life in danger?’


The doctor nodded. ‘I’ll give you his papers in a minute.’


He climbed into the ambulance, took a pair of scissors, cut away the man’s clothes and searched his pockets. Two cigarette butts, a throwaway lighter, a couple of bank notes and some coins. He called to the police officer.


‘That’s it. No ID.’


The doctor examined the man’s chest and lungs, reporting his findings to the nurse.


‘Abdomen soft, pelvis stable…’


‘Legs?’


‘No immediate sign of fracture, but his head hit the ground, or another vehicle. He’s bleeding slightly. I’ll check the neuro status.’ He pinched the man’s shoulder muscles.


‘No reaction. He hasn’t opened his eyes.’


‘No reaction in the arms or legs, either.’


‘Hook him up to the drip, we’ll put him out.’


The nurse prepared the anaesthetic while the doctor applied electrodes to the shoulders and stomach. He adjusted the saturometer on one finger, and fastened the blood-pressure monitor around the top of the man’s arm. With careful confidence, the doctor opened the patient’s mouth and inserted the endotracheal tube, glancing at the instruments.


‘You’re right, he smells pretty high. And the fumes, like a barrel of brandy. He must have been blind drunk.’


The doctor called the hospital resuscitation unit.


‘Jacques? It’s Guy – on my way with a cranial trauma. Patient intubated and ventilated.’


‘Okay, standing by.’


The vehicles shuddered to life and made their way in a tight convoy down Avenue Fonsny, threading through the early evening traffic towards Rue Haute and Saint-Pierre Hospital, less than two kilometres away. They passed through the hospital gates and beneath the portico leading to the emergency department. Two junior doctors lent a hand, placing the victim on a trolley and wheeling him to a cubicle. One of the nurses removed his remaining clothes. He pulled a face.


‘Where’d you find this one, in landfill?’ He hooked up the monitor, replaced the saturometer, checked the man’s blood pressure one more time.


The doctor frowned.


‘Couldn’t find any papers. Have you got anything?’


‘Nothing.’


The team injected a contrast agent and set about examining the stomach and chest. They made a scan of the spinal column and brain.


The doctor gave his diagnosis.


‘Cerebral contusions, two broken ribs, a head wound. There’s a bit of blood in the tube. He’s stable. See if there’s any space in intensive care.’


At 6:57p.m., the man was transferred to intensive care. The duty team made another complete examination. Two auxiliaries washed him from head to foot, but the sickening smell persisted.


The neurosurgeon visited the patient mid-evening, noted his observations and went to the duty doctor’s office.


‘Withdraw medication, let’s see if he wakes up.’


Around midnight, a police officer called by for an update. No papers had been found, but one of the auxiliaries had discovered a clue: letters and numbers scrawled in marker pen on the man’s left hand: A20P7.


The officer shrugged.


‘Won’t get far with that. We’ll wait a few more days. See if anyone files a Missing Person report fitting his description. Apart from that, there’s not much we can do.’


The following morning, the admissions clerk completed the man’s paperwork. He had been admitted to hospital on Thursday, February the eleventh, 2010 at 6:45p.m.


Under ‘Family Name’ she wrote X Midi.





4: PICK UP THE THREAD



Grand Funk. It seems they were part of it, too. The chaos, the sirens. ‘Paranoid’. A monolithic intro, fuzz pedal max’d out on the bass guitar, growling over the drums.


Grand Funk. They make a great noise.


Now, I must be ready. Retrace the course of events. I’ll account for the deaths to God. He’ll understand it was fate that took me to that Berlin basement, on that apocalyptic night.


Hiroshima.


That’s where it all began. That’s where I must pick up the thread.





5: A STREET SLEEPER



One week after his admission to intensive care, the man still hadn’t regained consciousness.


The medical team had stopped administering anaesthetic and begun close monitoring. No response was observed, and electrophysiological exploration revealed little hope of any change for the better in the short term.


The CT brain-scan report mentioned subarachnoid bleeding confined to the right sylvian fissure, with no cerebral contusion and no deviation of the ventricular system.


The MRI detected diffuse axonal injury in the midbrain, and a strategic lesion affecting both cerebral peduncles.


Lastly, blood tests indicated the man had been in a satisfactory state of health. Indicators of diabetes, but that was all. He had a tendency to high blood pressure, and scarring from an old wound to the left shoulder.


Curiously, he showed no signs of vitamin deficiency, as street sleepers often did.


Before the night team handed over their shift, the chief physician fetched X Midi’s notes, called the nurses and stood with them at the man’s bedside.


He consulted the file and spoke to the night nurse.


‘Have you noticed any response over the last few hours?’


She confirmed not.


‘No reaction at all. No sweating, no signs of agitation.’


The doctor leaned over and examined the man’s pupils.


‘He’s stable. I’m going to take out his tube.’


It took less than a minute. Once the tube was out and the oxygen mask in place, he spoke to the second nurse.


‘Contact the neuro team and ask them to prepare a room. We’ll keep him here for now and if there are no complications, we’ll send him up at the end of the morning.’


‘Okay, Sir.’


‘Keep a close eye on him for the next hour. Check his GCS again before he’s transferred. And keep on with the intravenous nadroparin and paracetamol meanwhile.’


She nodded.


The second nurse glanced at the patient, then lowered her voice.


‘There’s something I should tell you, sir.’


The doctor followed her gaze. He looked surprised.


‘Friend of yours?’


The night before, two police officers had fingerprinted the unknown man, and taken photographs, in hopes of identifying him. So far, no family members had come forward to report the disappearance of a man answering his description.


The nurse gave a thin smile.


‘No, it’s not that.’


He took her to one side.


‘Go on.’


‘Before coming here, I worked at César de Paepe for three years. They held a drop-in clinic for the homeless each winter. Street sleepers could get free treatment in the evenings. I did shifts there a few times.’


‘Yes, I’ve heard of it.’


‘The men I treated all showed similar characteristics. Whatever their age and general state of health, they had bad teeth, and their toenails would be in a very bad state. They developed a kind of second skin, all over their body. We would wash them four or five times before they started to look okay. And they all showed signs of vitamin deficiency. There was one other indicator that identified the ones who had been sleeping on the streets for a long time.’


She paused, searching for the right words.


The doctor supplied the phrase.


‘Their personal hygiene?’


She nodded.


‘Yes. People sleeping rough long-term lose the most basic habits of personal hygiene.’


‘And what’s your conclusion?’


‘Despite appearances, I’m certain this man is not a street sleeper.’





6: MY MOTHER’S SMILE



Hiroshima.


My mother said my birth put an end to the war. She said it with a smile. I was sitting in the kitchen, gazing at her. I didn’t know what she meant. I must have been happy.


She was preparing a meal. She dried her hands on her apron and her smile broadened.


I was born on August the sixth, 1945.


Later, I learned that Little Boy killed almost a hundred thousand people that day. A hundred thousand innocent people murdered, massacred, burned alive in the space of a few minutes while I was emerging from my mother’s belly. I never understood how anyone could rejoice at such horror. I never glimpsed the bright future people associated with that event, only the heavy price to be paid.


I retain only vague impressions of my childhood, a handful of memories, blurred at the edges. From time to time, images, smells or sensations emerge from the black hole that has filled my life.


They surface for a moment, signalling to me. I see them with astonishing clarity. I could describe every tiny detail.


Then they sink out of sight. Some come back to taunt me, enchant me, touch me. Others come in a dazzling flash, then disappear forever. Whole segments of my life obliterated in the mists of time.


It was hot. Perhaps my mother’s radiant warmth made it seem that way? The radio was playing classical music. Life felt easy, I was in touch with reality.


We lived in a small apartment over a garage, on Avenue de la Couronne, not far from the police barracks.


I was sitting in the kitchen, drawing new worlds with my coloured crayons. The crayons, my Dinky trucks, my Meccano and a pack of cards I won in a raffle: these were all my toys, my whole world.


The highlight of the day was the ride-past of the mounted police. At the sound of horses’ hooves on the cobbles, I would rush to the window. Everyone did the same. The neighbours would appear on balconies, or at their windows.


We watched the horses walk sedately, in rows of two, three or five. The cars would pull over to let them pass.


People had time to spare.


On rainy days, the riders wore long cloaks that fanned out over the horses’ hindquarters. Sometimes they paraded in dress uniforms. They looked very fine with their battle-standard and their black fur hats.


No one seemed to bother about the piles of dung the horses left behind.


When they rode out to patrol a march in the city centre, the police wore helmets and carried long truncheons.


Later each morning, I would look out for the green cart from the Union Économique. My mother and I would go down to buy our daily loaf of bread. I would walk up to the horse, but never dared stroke him. He wore blinkers. I would lean forward, trying hard to catch his eye. He made me feel afraid.


Around noon, we heard the soup-seller’s bell. I would run to the window and watch people busying themselves at the back of the van, saucepans in hand. When they had gone, I went back to the kitchen.


I sat and watched my mother to-ing and fro-ing. It seems I spent my entire childhood in the kitchen, watching my mother.


In the afternoons, I took a nap. I stretched out on my bed and my mother would pull the curtains. I fell asleep straightaway.


I woke to the grinding of the mill, and the aroma of coffee. I would get out of bed and go to my mother. A slice of buttered bread would be waiting, coated in black fruit syrup. I devoured it greedily.


Once a week, on a Friday, my mother waxed the parquet floor. She would spread the wax, leave it a while, then polish the wood with a hand-operated polisher that weighed a ton. The smell of beeswax always takes me back to those happy Fridays. I was content. Time took its time.


My mother loved me. I think she was the only woman who ever did, besides Mary, I suppose. My brother loved to terrorise me. He told me wild beasts and creatures from outer space were hiding under my bed, waiting until night-time, when they would come out and attack me.


When my father came, he smelled of beer and tobacco. I had to keep out of sight, in my room. He was bad-tempered, and he had bad days at work. He would go down to the cellar to fetch a sack of coal, and stoke the boiler. Then he would tell my mother he wanted a beer, and the brats could leave him in peace.


My mother would do as he said.


My father was hardly ever in a good mood. When he was, he would pinch my mother’s bottom, or pass behind her, pressing against her and grasping her breasts. My mother would laugh and pretend to look shocked. But I could see she didn’t like it really.


I was disturbed by it, though I couldn’t say why. I would disappear into my room, fuming. I wanted to stand up to him, but I said nothing.


One day, the earth shook beneath my feet.


It was late summer. My mother told me I would be going to school next day. This was good news. I would learn all sorts of things.


I didn’t want to go. I cried, I yelled. My brother swaggered like he’d seen it all before, and poked fun at me. I kicked the furniture. My father slapped me and I calmed down.


Next day, I put up a heroic fight. I cried again at the school gate. I didn’t want my mother to leave. I shook with rage. I wanted to go home with her, and sit in the kitchen with my coloured crayons and see her smile.


I tried to make a deal. I would stay if my mother could stay too, and sit beside me, on the next bench. They said no.


My schoolmaster was Father Martin, but I was to call him Father. If I wanted to speak, I had to raise a finger. I refused to cooperate, and never said anything.


When we took dictation, he would loom up behind me and lean over me. I felt his breath on the back of my neck. The muscles in my hand would melt. I was incapable of writing, unable to grip my pen or dip the nib in my inkwell.


I wanted to go home, and see my mother’s smile.


That’s about it.


All that remains of my childhood. My mother’s smile.





7: AND THAT’S ALL



I was about ten years old when I first heard the words ‘rock and roll’.


The lady with the French pleat, at the record shop, where we went from time to time, spoke them disdainfully as she handed me a record by Chuck Berry. She said it was new, it was called ‘rock and roll’. And she pursed her lips.


Who was the first official rock’n’roller? Or the first rock’n’roll song? I never knew. I never got into arguments about that.


For me, it was Chuck Berry and ‘Maybellene’.


And that’s all.





8: 105 KILOS



Ten days after the accident, the police were forced to admit they were getting nowhere.


The district officers had uncovered nothing in the neighbourhood. None of the locals had seen X Midi before. The street sleepers around the station were questioned, to no avail.


On the off-chance, an ID request had been issued to the national offices of Interpol in Brussels. X Midi’s fingerprints were sent for analysis by the Judicial Identification Service, but there was no match on their database.


A police cryptanalyst had studied the letters and numbers found on the unknown man’s hand. Several leads had been followed up, but all were discounted.


A police team visited the hospital and asked for the man to be shaved. More photographs were taken, with unsatisfactory results. The man’s unnatural expression – his slack features and closed eyes – made him hard to recognise.


They took his measurements. X Midi was a force of nature. He was 1.92 metres tall, and weighed one hundred and five kilos.





9: LAUGHING OUT LOUD



I was one of the smallest and skinniest in my class. Father Martin retired and was replaced by Mr Christian, an irascible lay teacher with an excitable, nervous disposition.


Teachers smoked in class back then, breathing smoke into their pupils’ nostrils and slapping anyone who fell out of line.


Such practices were tried and tested. We knew nothing else. No one dreamed of getting angry or challenging them. The more so because the exact same discipline was meted out to us all at home.


Short trousers were compulsory. Even in the worst of the winter, the teachers seemed quite unmoved by the sight of their pupils’ thighs trembling blue in the cold.


One of my classmates stood a full head taller than the rest of us. We called him Taurus, the bull. Winter or summer, his great, meaty thighs were ruddy and robust, over catch-wrestler’s calves and carthorse ankles that disappeared into his military boots. He was the uncontested king of the schoolyard. He commanded our profound respect.


Taurus claimed to know how babies were made, but would only tell the secret to members of his gang. He alluded to his theory with an air of great mystery, suggesting blasphemous revelations wreathed in hell-fire.


I was still on the birds and the bees, and that suited me fine.


The pupils’ latrines were tucked away at the back of the schoolyard: a row of boxed-in stalls built against the perimeter wall. They were fitted with doors that left the user’s feet and head in full view when standing. The metal hooks that served as locks had for the most part been ripped off by bad boys in acts of retaliation.


Privacy of a kind was secured by holding the door in place with one foot while using the toilet. This required intense concentration and excellent coordination.


On the morning in question, Taurus had a brush with one of the teacher’s pets. An acid exchange ensued, and the pet had the last word.


A harmless incident – but not when Taurus was involved.


During break, Taurus spied the swaggering pet and waited for him to shut himself into one of the stalls. For reasons unknown, he came over to me, gripped me by my jacket collar and ordered me to tear open the door so that everyone could see the little pisser’s arse.


He rallied his little gang. They reported for duty and stationed themselves in front of the toilet door. I was trapped between fear of being caught by one of the supervisors, and visceral terror of Taurus’s reprisals if I disobeyed.


I was rooted to the spot, stammering, unable to think. Taurus came back at me. He stood with his feet planted firmly apart, face close to mine, fists on hips. What was I waiting for?


I couldn’t do it, I stammered. We’d get into trouble.


He felled me with a sharp kick in the shin, and did the job himself.


Cowering on the toilet, exposed for all to see, the poor kid began squealing like a stuck pig. Taurus and his gang doubled up laughing.


A supervisor came running over. He saw what was happening and rounded on the assembled company. Before he could ask who was responsible, Taurus singled me out with an accusing finger. The attendant clipped me hard around the ears and sent me to the headmaster, who asked why I had done such a thing. I replied that it wasn’t me, and refused to reveal the true culprit, earning myself another couple of sharp slaps.


I was sent back to class and told to stay behind after school the following Saturday. I was told to write a thousand times that I mustn’t open the latrine doors when they were being used.


When my mother came to collect me, the headmaster called her into his office. He told her what had happened and lamented the change in a pupil whose behaviour had been exemplary until now.


My mother listened wordlessly, thanked the headmaster and told him that she knew what she must do. She told my brother to go home by himself, took me by the hand and led me off in a different direction.


As soon as we turned the corner, she took me in her arms. She knew I was incapable of bullying.


I was furious. I shook with rage. I wanted to burst out crying, to kill Taurus, the yard attendant and the headmaster. I wanted to explain what had happened, lose myself in her arms, forget everything. But not a word nor a teardrop came.


She suggested we go to the record shop, promised me I could choose a record just for me and no one else, told me it was just a bad experience that would soon pass. I should forget all about it.


The lady in the record shop said it was called ‘rock and roll’.


We took Chuck Berry’s record home. My mother said she wouldn’t tell our father. She would tell him I’d been invited to a friend’s house on Saturday afternoon, and we would listen to the record the Thursday after that.


I had no idea of the risk she took, by choosing not to tell my father what had happened.


My father talked of nothing but war. Not the war I had put an end to by being born, but the conflict that loomed between Russia and America, the one that would destroy the planet with atomic bombs.


My brother was uninterested in either the impending war, or music. Pop-eyed, his cheeks aflame, he spent his time poring over a magazine that he stuffed under his pillow whenever I entered our room.


A few days later, I went to confession, as we were all required to do every week. We went in groups of five, during school time. The church was next to the school.


Having delivered myself of my venal sins, I spoke to the curate in the semi-darkness. I told him what had happened at school. I wanted to know why God had not come to my aid, because God is all-seeing, and God is just, and God punishes wicked people.


He took my question as an affront to the name of the Lord, and expressed grave reservations as to the salvation of my soul if I persisted in such blasphemy. He sent me away, adding a few Our Fathers to my penance.


That evening, I took my Bible and hurled it under my bed, throwing my Catholic upbringing, and the remnants of my faith, to the wild beasts and the creatures from outer space. That week, I turned the page on a chapter in my life. My blind confidence in humanity and the Church disappeared into thin air.


The following Thursday was a half-day at school. We took the record out from its hiding place, and went into the living room together, my mother and I. We opened the lid on the record-player.


It was a monumental item of furniture: a radio and turntable combined. It smelled of new wood and beeswax. The turntable was equipped with a system allowing you to drop several 45 rpm discs one after the other, so that you didn’t have to keep going back to change the record. The lid had a brass inlay, showing a dog sitting next to an old-fashioned phonograph.


We positioned the disc and set the turntable in motion.


My whole body tingled at the sound of the opening chords. I felt an irresistible urge to get up and move, to throw my arms around, and shake my backside and every bit of me that could be twisted and shaken about. I had no idea why just these few notes had such an effect.


That was it. Rock and roll.


I turned up the volume. Chuck’s guitar blew me away.


My mother was shaking her bottom, too. My brother came to see what on Earth was going on. He joined in as well.


There we were, dancing like savages, all three of us together, in the middle of the living room. We turned the volume up as far as it would go. We laughed and shouted until our stomachs hurt.


Rock came into my life that day and it never left.


That afternoon is one of the happiest memories of my life, Ma in her pretty yellow dress, dancing to rock’n’roll and laughing out loud.





10: CRASH INTO THE CROWD



No one imagined Steve Parker would ever do the deed, though his suicidal threats were well known to his entourage, and to the members of Pearl Harbor, who spent every day in his company. They reflected the darker side of his nature, the side that had earned him a reputation as a troubled, nervy character.


The slightest disagreement – a difference of opinion on a choice of chord was all it took – and he would fly into a rage, cursing the whole world and threatening to bust his amp if his demands weren’t met.


Excessive behaviour like this was just the way Steve functioned. People around him were used to his eccentricities and treated his threats like the tantrums of a spoiled child. With time, no one paid them much attention or took him even half-seriously.


More shocking even than his death was the fact that nothing suggested he knew about the death of his friend Larry, just the day before.


Larry Finch was the founder and uncontested leader of Pearl Harbor, but Steve Parker was its éminence grise. It was he who took the decisions affecting the future of the group. After mulling them over, he would inform Larry, taking him to one side, after which Larry would relay them to all concerned, with strict orders to comply with the directives, the first of which was the band’s insidious choice of name, imposed by Steve on the other members.


Steve was viscerally anti-American, blaming the Marshall Plan for making Germany the economic winner of the war. He also blamed eight long years of post-war rationing in Britain for creating a generation of small, thin, spotty, violent teenagers, fodder for the gangs of Teddy Boys that wreaked havoc in the Fifties. Throughout the same period, the German people had prospered thanks to an economic shot in the arm, from America.


Steve maintained that the wave of British rock’n’roll groups crashing onto the US market and filling the top spots in the Billboard chart constituted a second assault on Uncle Sam after that fatal Sunday in December 1941.


Oblivious to the irony at their expense, the American G.I.s who formed the backbone of Pearl Harbor’s devoted Berlin following saw the name as a tribute to their strength in adversity.


Steve Parker had played guitar since he was eight years old. He had inherited a Fender Telecaster and a Stimer amp from a jazz-loving uncle.


He showed an aptitude for the instrument early on, and progressed quickly, though he took no lessons and couldn’t read a note of music.


At age thirteen he began writing lyrics, which he set to music and sang, accompanying himself on his guitar. Acerbic, angry stuff, lashing out at the British Crown, the school system, Harold Macmillan’s Conservative government and what he called the British people’s ‘blind submissiveness’.


His response to criticism generally included foul language and declarations to the effect that he refused to communicate with ‘ordinary people’.


At fifteen, he was prone to a variety of tics – nervous spasms that tightened his features. He would scratch himself, pull at his hair and wring his hands convulsively. Pupils at the school he attended began to avoid him. They said he was a nervous wreck, and called him a poof.


His parents worried about his aggressive, anti-social nature and mood swings. They took him to see the family doctor.


The GP referred him to a psychiatrist who diagnosed manic depression and prescribed antidepressants. In addition to his manic-depressive symptoms, Steve suffered acute pain from a curvature of the spine.


At seventeen, he was addicted to a cocktail of antipsychotic drugs and painkillers, and regularly took more than his prescribed dose.


Steve Parker and Larry Finch got together in the spring of 1963.


Steve lived about five miles from Battersea at the time, near the Hammersmith Odeon, the famous concert hall that had hosted Ella Fitzgerald and Louis Armstrong. He had quit studying and was working nights in a bakery.


One morning, he spotted a small ad placed by Larry in Jazz News, calling for anyone interested in forming a rock group. Steve had sent off a few demos, without much hope.


To his surprise, Larry asked him to come over the following week. They hit it off, and recruited a third guitarist to form The Weapons, their first band. The trio had no drummer because, as Larry had predicted, none replied to the ad. Kits were expensive, and there was a shortage of amateur players.


After a few weeks, the third member was fired due to temperamental differences, and The Weapons disbanded.


Rather than hunt for a new rhythm guitar, Steve decided on a different line-up: drums, bass and two lead guitars instead of the usual back-up rhythm and solo lead combo. The two leads would answer each other’s solos in a kind of dialogue. Two years later, listening to Keith Richards’ and Brian Jones’ intertwining guitar work on ‘The Last Time’, he reckoned the Rolling Stones had stolen his idea. He even considered suing them, briefly.


It took three months to find a guitarist up to the task, and four more to find a drummer. Pearl Harbor’s definitive line-up was finalised in May 1964: Larry on bass, Steve as lead singer and guitar, Jim on second guitar and Paul on drums.


Steve was eighteen now, and smoking his first joints.


His back was giving him more and more pain. An X-ray revealed a slipped disc. The doctor said his long periods standing, and the weight of the guitar, were aggravating the condition. He was told to stop playing, or to play sitting down.


At twenty, just before Pearl Harbor secured their Berlin contract, he swallowed twenty Benzedrine tablets in a failed suicide attempt.


It took the police several days to establish Steve Parker’s movements between leaving Berlin on Friday the seventeenth of March, and his death in Hamburg on the night of the nineteenth to the twentieth of March, 1967.


Steve had left Berlin late in the morning after securing a couple of bootleg tickets for Jimi Hendrix’s show at the Star Club on Sunday the nineteenth of March.


He had taken the train, reached Hamburg by early evening, and checked into the Kastanien Hotel in the heart of Sankt Pauli, on a street parallel to the Reeperbahn, the notorious artery that was home to the city’s frenetic round-the-clock club and music scene.


On the night of Friday to Saturday, numerous bar owners reported seeing him enter their establishments and leave after a glass or two. One said Steve seemed to be looking for something. Another assumed he was out to visit as many places as possible.


He had concluded his tour with a visit to the Hotel Luxor, well known for the services of its exotic hostesses. Parker had a particular fondness for Thai girls, and his companion remembered him thanks to the generous tip he had left her.


He had spent Saturday in his room, and left the hotel around 3:00p.m.


Towards the end of the afternoon, he had a brief altercation with a drunk who jostled him in a bar. Words were exchanged, and then insults, and following the insults, blows. The fist-fight was settled after a few punches, leaving Steve with a black eye.


He had sought treatment in a pharmacy, then went to an Italian restaurant. After that, he had drunk several beers at the Top Ten Club and ended the evening in a strip joint.


The hotel porter saw him return at around 5:00a.m.


On Sunday, he left his room only to go to the Hendrix concert. After the show, he had visited another well-known Sankt Pauli establishment, where his companion confirmed that he seemed drugged, and had been unable to see their evening through to its natural conclusion.


He had returned to his hotel at 6:30a.m.


One of the hotel residents had come down to reception at around 10:00a.m., claiming to have heard a shot fired at about seven, but with no clear idea as to where the sound had come from.


The maids had knocked at Steve’s door around midday, despite being told to clear off on the other mornings of his stay. They had expected the usual volley of insults, and were surprised by his silence.


Faced with a locked door and no response to their calls, they had contacted the hotel manager, who used his pass key.


Steve Parker was sitting on the floor, leaning against his bed with his head thrown back. The bedroom ceiling was splattered with blood.


The police investigation concluded a verdict of suicide.


Steve Parker had shot himself in the mouth using a large-calibre hunting rifle. The police suggested that the gun had been bought on the black market, and that it was easy enough to find a weapon like that in a city like Hamburg.


Toxicology tests established 1.52 milligrams of heroin per litre of blood.


Two months later, overcome with grief at his death, Steve Parker’s parents hired a private detective. They told him of the events surrounding their son’s death, and their doubts about the conclusions of the German police enquiry.


The detective travelled to Hamburg and conducted his own investigation, which unearthed a handful of elements to discredit the suicide theory.


The first was the quantity of heroin found in Parker’s blood. According to the detective, the dose would have rendered him incapable of firing the gun.


Second, the shotgun’s barrel was so long that Steve would have had to pull the trigger with his toe. Even then, he was found wearing shoes. The source of the weapon was another mystery. It was claimed that Steve had not brought it with him from Berlin. The detective could see buying a gun in Hamburg was easy, but a person still had to know where to look. And this was Steve’s first time in the city.


Third, the detective felt that the relative lack of fingerprints found in the room, and especially on the gun, compounded the suspicious circumstances surrounding Steve’s death.


Last of all, the few words the singer had scrawled on a scrap of paper on the bedside table were ambiguous and seemed to have been dictated.


Steve’s parents referred the detective’s observations to the police. Despite this, the report and its conclusions were unchanged. The police closed the case, recording a verdict of death from a self-administered shot to the head.


Steve Parker’s mysterious farewell message stated that it was better to explode in mid-flight than to crash into the crowd.





11: THIS UNKNOWN MAN



On the twenty-fifth of March 2010, six weeks after the accident at Brussels Midi station, the directorate of operations for the judicial police asked the Crown Prosecutor to issue a search notice across all media.


Two photographs of the man, one bearded and one clean-shaven, were broadcast a few minutes before the evening news bulletin on both national TV networks.


The photographs drew few responses.


Besides the usual fantasists, three leads were followed up. After checking, one was found to concern a resident of Furnes who had died in 1999, and whose death could in no way be called into question. The other two led to men who were still alive, and quickly identified.


Photographs of X Midi and a description of the accident were also posted on the judicial police website, under ‘Unidentified Persons’.


Despite this, the chances of securing an identification dwindled daily.


At the debrief, the inspector in charge of the enquiry delivered his conclusions with a shrug of the shoulders.


‘If you want my opinion, no one but him, if he ever wakes up, can tell us the identity of this unknown man.’





12: THE BEST IN THE WORLD



The records came thick and fast after ‘Maybellene’.


‘Sweet Little Sixteen’,‘Roll Over Beethoven’, ‘Johnny B. Goode’, and more. They took all my pocket money.


The lady in the record shop where I spent more and more of my time showed me the new titles and urged me to buy them. They were flying off the shelves, she said. She predicted the craze for rock’n’roll would never last, and that something else would soon take its place.


But while we waited for whatever might dethrone him, Chuck Berry was my god. His records were played over and over again in the apartment on Thursday and Sunday afternoons, when my father joined his friends at the café.


Not content with shaking my backside and tapping out his relentless beat, I would mime his guitar playing, armed with a stick of wood. I shadowed his spasmodic solos, legs stuck out and feet turned in, my hair falling into my eyes.


One day, while I was in the kitchen and Chuck was presiding in the living room, I had the idea of tapping along with a crayon against a glass. The results were convincing. I took a second crayon and drummed along in time.


I noticed that the emptier the glass, the deeper the pitch. Seized with sudden inspiration, I fetched several glasses and filled them to differing levels, to produce a variety of notes.


After that, I perfected my technique with a range of kitchen utensils. I placed a salad bowl, a saucepan and a frying pan in a half-circle around the glasses, balancing the saucepan precariously on top of a candlestick.


It was a fine old racket to begin with, but my dexterity improved as the weeks went by, with the encouragement of my mother and (rather more hypocritically) my brother, who seized the opportunity to take refuge in our room with his new girlfriend.


At Christmastime, heart thumping, I discovered a drum kit under the tree. My mother’s eyes shone. My father’s too, but for different reasons. He took me to one side and ordered me never to play it, at least not when he was around.


It was an Italian kit, especially for children. It included a stool, a bass drum, a snare drum and a ride cymbal of sorts.


I had no idea what their proper names were. I called them ‘boom’, ‘chak’ and ‘tsing’. The sound was appalling, but it was better than the substitutes I had played on up to then.


I quickly familiarised myself with the characteristics of each. With practice, I managed a few rolls. I tried hard. I didn’t want to play any old how – unlike one of my classmates, who had an identical kit.


It must have been that year’s bestselling toy. He invited me over to compare our skills. We took it in turns to play along with Elvis Presley (my friend’s personal god) on ‘Tutti Frutti’, the song he stole from Little Richard.


When it was my turn to play, I did my best to distance myself from my friend’s banging and crashing. I tried hard to recreate the right effects at the right moments.


All around me, people were talking more and more about Elvis Presley. To me he was just a truck driver with greasy hair who writhed obscenely while pretending to play guitar. Not for one minute could I picture him as the successor to Chuck Berry, Eddie Cochran or Buddy Holly.


I practised whenever the occasion presented itself, chiefly on Thursdays and Sundays, but also whenever my invented headaches kept me home from school.


I made good progress. My speed and precision impressed more than a few, but I still needed to master my strokes if I was to drum with a more even beat, and greater intensity. Day after day, I worked at the fundamentals: control, coordination and the independent movement of all four limbs.


Apart from my mother, my fan base included my cousin – and one of my aunts, who would laugh as I played, clapping her hands and declaring that I had quite a talent. My harshest critics were the tenants in the apartment above. More than once, my mother went upstairs to parlay.


The garage on the ground floor, below, meant we were mostly left in peace, a privilege countered by the blasts of exhaust fumes that filled the apartment from time to time. I can smell the grease and motor oil even now.


Sometimes, the screech of tyres and the shouts of the mechanics rise from the depths of my subconscious, and ring in my ears.


My record collection grew little by little. I owned a few hits by Fats Domino, Jerry Lee Lewis and Little Richard. I was fascinated by an older song, too, from Bill Haley and the Comets, entitled ‘Rock Around the Clock’, a forgotten B side that came to light when it was chosen as part of the soundtrack to a film that was showing in all the cinemas.


I was disappointed by the way Bill Haley looked on television. He was pudgy, with a mechanical smile that never reached his eyes, and he wore a strand of hair curled and stuck to his forehead in a halfmoon shape. Nothing like the menacing, pugnacious rocker of my imagination.


To keep up with the influx of 45 rpms, and to help memorise my home-grown arrangements, I began to write my own scores.


The first attempts were rudimentary notes of the elements I needed to play, in order, on a single line. Boom chak chak, boom chak chak, boom chak chak, tsing. The limitations of my method soon became clear.


Little by little, I learned to listen and count, and to identify the beats and the tempos they composed. My scores became more sophisticated.


Now, they consisted of three parallel lines identified by the initials B, CH, and TS. I divided them into bars and sections. Most rock songs are in four-four time. For each beat, I marked the sounds to be combined, with a cross.


Later, poring over books of theory, and learning about the musical stave, I realised my intuition had served me well.
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